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[0:00:00]
Raynne Creemer:
September 14th, 1979.  This is Raynne Creemer and Virginia Donaway with Metropolitan Interfaith Association.  We are on a grant from the Tennessee Committee for the Humanities, an affiliate of the National Endowment for the Humanities.  This is the Valentine Evergreen Neighborhood and Public Policy Project.  We’ll be interviewing Mrs. Nell Sanders Aspero.  A-S-P-E-R-O.  


Originally lived near our area.  Now you know when we talk about Vaca, our boundaries are Watkins and Tresbin and North Parkway and Cypress Creek, and I know you’re living there now.  Where are you living?  

Nell S. Aspero:
Cypress Creek.  Cypress Creek, isn’t it also called Licht Creek?

Raynne Creemer:
No, it’s one over.  It’s further north.

Nell S. Aspero:
Is it?

Virginia Donaway:
It’s north of Valentine.  Right there at Cypress Junior High School.

[0:01:00]


But you know where the old Gooch Lumber Company used to be?

Nell S. Aspero:
No, but I – it’s not Licht.  Licht is the one that comes right on down near me.

Virginia Donaway:
Cypress runs north.

Raynne Creemer:
Do you know where the junior high school is?  That new junior high, Cypress Junior High.  

Nell S. Aspero:
No.  

Raynne Creemer:
You know where Brown Street is?

Nell S. Aspero:
Yeah.

Virginia Donaway:
It’s right behind brown.

Nell S. Aspero:
That’s where they stole my husband’s car and took it over there, dismantling it on Brown, and the police found it.

Raynne Creemer:
When did they steal your husband’s car?

Nell S. Aspero:
They stole my husband’s car from in front of our house the night of the fourth of July.

Raynne Creemer:
1979?

Nell S. Aspero:
Yeah, this fourth.  And the police found the car.  Evidently, the ones that were dismantling it, undoubtedly black on Brown, 2424 Brown, something like that, the lights of the police car must have alarmed them, and they stopped, but they were in the act of trying to take the radiator off.

[0:02:01]


I know where Brown is.

Raynne Creemer:
Right.  And where do you live now?

Nell S. Aspero:
I live at 1790 Faxon, F-A-X-O-N at the present corner of Hawthorne Street, which was not bad at all in 1916 when my mother bought this home and we moved into it in 1916.  We did not live near this neighborhood at that time.  We lived in South Memphis near – on College Street, as a matter of fact.  But my mother bought this property for the express purpose of sending me to Snowden School, which at that time was the newest and considered the best school in the city.  Practically no one went to private schools in those days except quite well to do people.

[0:03:00]


And this was the outstanding public school.  Snowden School was just one block away from our home, and – 

Raynne Creemer:
Did you build your home?

Nell S. Aspero:
No.  No, the house I think was built in 1912, and it was a bungalow, a five-room bungalow at the time we moved into it.

Raynne Creemer:
Who did you buy the house from?

Nell S. Aspero:
A gentleman named Tillman, T-I-L-L-M-A-N.  I remember my mother saying that he was in some kind of financial distress.  I was seven years old at the time we moved into the house.  And then World War I came.  I remember that very well, and I became eight years old that summer, and then went into the Snowden School third grade.  Always had the very finest teachers at Snowden School, and at that time, the school consisted of just the original building, which now is – 

[0:04:14]


Well, you wouldn’t even call it wings.  It’s just the part where the front steps go up, and on the left and right side.  By the time I graduated there in the eighth grade in 1922, they had just built the first addition to the east.  I was valedictorian in 1922.  So at that time, as I said, our house consisted of five rooms.  We were near the zoo.  I remember very well having fear in the early mornings hearing the lions roar at the zoo.
[0:05:09]


And there were very few houses between us and the zoo so you could hear those lions very, very plainly.  And Hawthorne start at Faxon.  There was nothing but a vacant field between our house, which was 1790 and the nearest house to the west, which was about 1770 or 1774.  Those quiet vacant expanse in that, and our number – my mother immediately affiliated, joined Trinity Methodist Church, and my aunt lived with us.  In fact, my aunt really reared me.  I always called my aunt mama.  My father died when I was a baby.  

[0:06:16]


And so much of the memories intertwined with Trinity Methodist Church because every time the door opened, the three of us were there, and a lot of times, the dog went along, too.  I can remember this cocker spaniel we had at times sitting on the front steps of this little white frame church, which Trinity Methodist originally was, and the dog kept people from coming into the sanctuary at times.  But I know that my Sunday school class was offering a prize for money that was being collected for some purpose.

[0:07:06]


I’ve forgotten what it was, but I won the prize by setting a trap for rabbits in this vacant space, which is now Hawthorne Street.  It was that wild and undeveloped in there.  Now – 

Virginia Donaway:
Let me interrupt just a minute there.  Now you mean Hawthorne was only open from the south up to Faxon.

Nell S. Aspero:
Up to Faxon.

Virginia Donaway:
The north was all – 

Nell S. Aspero:
All wilderness.

Virginia Donaway:
Now which other streets were not open in there?  Do you remember?

Nell S. Aspero:
Oh, all of those streets.  That was nothing but field, and – 

Virginia Donaway:
Was it farm?

Nell S. Aspero:
There was no - _______.  They cut the hay in the late summer of the year, August, and this was 1916, 1917, 1918.  I can remember the bailing hay along the area that’s now Tutwiler between Faxon and Tutwiler.  

[0:08:05]


There was a little street that was called Speedway, and it was an electric streetcar.  And we called it the dump.  It had side streets.  I mean side seats.  Side seats.  And when it would move along at a fairly fast clip, it would just buck and send everyone up and down.  That’s the reason we called it the dump.  The end of the Speedway line at that time was McLane, and I’m trying to remember whether McLane went on through at that time. 

Virginia Donaway:
Yes, McLane did.  McLane has gone through from the very beginning.  McLane and May, which May became – went up at least to Jackson.

Nell S. Aspero:
Well, Jackson Avenue consisted of a dirt road at that time, but there was a grocery store over there.  I’ve forgotten the name of the grocery store, but every morning, the grocery boy would come on his bicycle to take orders for groceries.  Imagine that.  And then in the afternoon, he would come and deliver, or somebody would deliver the groceries.  Maybe by horse and wagon.  I don’t remember that.  But I do recall that’s all there was to Jackson was a dirt road.

Virginia Donaway:
Well, was this Crump Grocery by chance, or Camp?

Nell S. Aspero:
It might have been Crump Grocery.  There were a lot of Crumps who lived up in that area.  And down on McLane, the first grocery store that I remember in that immediate vicinity was a Bowers, B-O-W-E-R-S.

[0:10:03]


Had a big picture on the side with tag, and the dog, the bulldog, “You won’t get bit if you buy a Mr. Bowers.”  And you go in the Bowers Grocery.  He was always a very nice gentleman.  They would stand behind the counter.  You would tell them what you wanted, and they would bring it out.  That’s long before _____ Saunders in 1922.  And the potatoes were sitting around.  If you wanted potatoes, you bought them by a pack, and there were little measuring containers there.


And then if you wanted more of something or other, that was a bushel.  Things were not packaged in those days at all.

Virginia Donaway:
Well now, was that in the commercial area of this there just across from Snowden School?

Nell S. Aspero:
That was right across from this present Snowden gymnasium.  

[0:11:00]

Virginia Donaway:
Vino’s and that other little grocery store.  

Nell S. Aspero:
No, not that part.  The part up near North Parkway.

Virginia Donaway:
Where Flibbin Piano Store is now.  

Nell S. Aspero:
Yeah, it was between – well, that was Walter’s Drug Store.  Flibbin’s Piano Store.  But the first pharmacist I remember was next to the Bowers Grocery Store.  Now Bowers wasn’t in this thing that I think is a storeroom and has been for years for the Sacred Playhouse.  Bowers was where the beauty shop is now.  The Elite Beauty Shop.  And then, to the immediate south, a drug store opened.  I remember Mr. Eason is the first pharmacist I remember.  He’s Judy Eason’s father, long since dead.


I remember very well we had some visitors on Sunday before the drug store was to open on Monday.

[0:12:00]


And the lady gave me a quarter to spend at the drug store.  That was a wonderful event, and that was Mr. Eason, the pharmacist, and then later, I don’t know how many turnovers came.  That drugstore was robbed so many times.  Walter Ilsey, I-L-S-E-Y, owned the drugstore.  He was a pharmacist, and he had an enormous variety of store in it, and Walter’s slogan was, “You can’t sell it if you don’t have any.”  Walter had about everything in there.


Raynne Creemer:
Now what years did Walter have the drugstore?  
Nell S. Aspero:
I beg your pardon.
Raynne Creemer:
What years did Walter have the drugstore?
Nell S. Aspero:
Walter died about 1975.  
Raynne Creemer:
And it was open until then.
[0:12:54]

Nell S. Aspero:
Yes.  After Walter died or became disabled, his wife Mary ran it, but she didn’t have a pharmacist.  She just ran it as a variety store, and the children would all stop in there on the way home from school and buy penny candy and this, that, and the other.  But Walter was the pharmacist for many, many years out there.  And he was a very kind man, and his slogan was to court the children while they were little, and they would be his customers indefinitely.  I know that’s the attitude he had toward mine and everybody else’s.  

And I remember very well when my mother died, Walter sent up a package of ice cream.  He was always very thoughtful to his customers because we were all Walter’s customers in those days, but going back, those are the two first stores that I remember that were built between Faxon and North Parkway.  

[0:14:07]


I can remember when there was no drugstore there when I had scarlet fever.  I think it was 1918 that my mother would walk to Cox Parish Drugstore, which was at the corner of Evergreen and Poppler, a full mile to get anything that would make me more comfortable and prescriptions.  There was no drugstore and no delivery service and very few telephones.  We had a telephone, but as I said, the grocery store would come to the house and take the order because there were very few telephones in those days.

[0:14:57]

Raynne Creemer:
Do you remember the dairy?
Nell S. Aspero:
Dairy?
Raynne Creemer:
Yes.  
Virginia Donaway:
Over on Valentine.  

Nell S. Aspero:
That was the Terry’s Dairy, I think.  Yes, Colonel Terry was a very, very good friend of ours, and Terry’s owned a huge tract of land over there on Valentine, and Colonel Terry and his wife and his brothers.  Oscar was one of the brothers.  And they’ve been in our home many times.  Colonel Terry was in World War I.
Virginia Donaway:
Did you ever hear them talk about Terry Town?

Nell S. Aspero:
No, I don’t remember ever hearing – 

Virginia Donaway:
You never heard about Terry Town School.

Nell S. Aspero:
No, but I do remember now that they had a dairy.  But I don’t know that – what dairy delivered milk to us.

[0:16:00]

Virginia Donaway:
Theirs was called Chestnut Grove.

Nell S. Aspero:
That name doesn’t ring a bell.

Virginia Donaway:
Let me back up just a minute.  You were talking about the Speedway car line. 

[0:16:07]

Nell S. Aspero:
Yeah.

Virginia Donaway:
It was not part – was that one of the ones that merged into the Memphis Street railway?

Nell S. Aspero:
Yeah.

Virginia Donaway:
It was just a little independent one, or was it part of the Memphis – 
Nell S. Aspero:
No, at that time, it was part of the Memphis Street railway.

Virginia Donaway:
And it was just the Speedway, when like the bus today would be the Faxon bus or something.

Nell S. Aspero:
That’s right.  It was called the Speedway Streetcar, and it was just a single track down there, and – 

Virginia Donaway:
What route did it follow the town?  Do you remember?

Nell S. Aspero:
As well as I remember, it went on down what is now Tutwiler, which at that time was a big field, and it went on down and merged into the part of Faxon that began west of Avalon.  Now the part of Faxon that we lived on is the strip that began with Avalon and ended at McLane.

[0:17:11]


Now the intervening streets were Avalon, and the Smith Lumber Company was situated at the head of Faxon Avenue then.  Now Wood Knot Towers was built there, but Smith Lumber Company began that section of Faxon.  Now then that Avalon, I’m sure it did not go through in those days.  In the next street going east would be Dickinson.  It didn’t – that part wasn’t built up then, and after Dickinson would be Evergreen.  Well, then some houses were built on Faxon.  They were frame houses.  Ours was a frame house.

[0:18:01]

And between Evergreen and McLane, it was developed gradually with frame houses.  There were a few between Evergreen and what’s now Hawthorne, and several in the block between Hawthorne and McLane, but there were a lot of vacant lots, and then later, they were bought, and some nice brick houses were built in that block between Hawthorne and McLane.  


The Vecarols had a beautiful home at 1804.  The Cathys moved there about 1924 or ’25.  Mr. Jesse Cathy and Mrs. Per Cathy.  They had a nice – Mr. Cathy is dead now, and Ms. Cathy is in a nursing home in Jackson, but 1797.  A very, very nice brick bungalow. 
[0:19:08]

Virginia Donaway:
Was your house in Dickinson’s Evergreen addition, or was it in Faxons?

Nell S. Aspero:
Faxon’s addition to Evergreen.  I told you about the bailing hay down there.

Virginia Donaway:
That’s in what became Speed University Park then, I guess.

Nell S. Aspero:
Yes.  But that didn’t develop until Southwestern was moved into Memphis, the University Park.  Anyway, all that was just a great big wilderness.  Oh my goodness.  And hobos used to be on that part of the railroad, that strip of the LNN, and ran down there by the creek.  Well, of course, all the children wanted to go down there and walk around the railroad, and all the big trees and everything. 

[0:19:58]


My mother never would let me go unless one of them was along.  But on Sundays, I got to go down and walk along, and they were afraid of these hobos who used to hang out.  I don’t know whether nowadays there’s hobos or not.  I don’t think they have any more hobos.  I don’t know what they call them.  But I remember very well about 19 – I graduated from Snowden in 1922.  It must have been the summer of 1923 or ’24. 


There was a terrible rainy spell, and that area just north of where we live, this is before Tutwiler was developed, was flooded to the extent that workmen were going around in boats down there.  Now I don’t know what those workmen were working on in 1923 and ’24.

[0:21:00]


I was studying piano very diligently in those days at the Bowman School of Music, but it was not until 1925 or just before 1925 when Southwestern moved to Memphis.  This is commemorative medal, Southwestern was opened in Memphis, inaugurated in 1925.  It moved to Memphis from Clarksville.  It opened in 1925.  Now that was the reason for the big impetus and big development of the section north of us.  Well, the first thing that developed was Tutwiler.  
[0:22:01]


And all of those houses on Tutwiler in this section from Avalon to McLane are brick.  And then Hawthorne was cut all the way through to Tutwiler, and was just a gravel street.  I remember before it was cut through, my mother and I used to get out there late in the afternoons, and some of the children in the neighborhood and play softball, and that was a great lark.  That was just a big field.  Like I say, I caught rabbit out there.  So anyway, the street – Tutwiler was cut through, and of course, in those days, all those streets were gravel.
[0:23:00]

Virginia Donaway:
Even Faxon when you lived on it?

Nell S. Aspero:
It was gravel.

Virginia Donaway:
But the parkway was paved.  Right?

Nell S. Aspero:
It was paved, but there was a tremendous to do on North Parkway.  It must have been in about 1945 when they wanted to widen.  You know, Parkway originally was designed for the middle to be used by horses and buggies, and it was quite a wide strip, and it was not paved.  Then they paved the side part, and then about 1945, they decided that they were going to widen the side parts because there weren’t any horse and buggies in those days.  And they cut down these beautiful trees on North Parkway.  There was a tremendous battle about cutting down the trees, and I remember one of the ones who was a leader against destroying the trees was Mr. Cavett, C-A-V-E-T-T who lived up on North Parkway between Dickinson and Avalon.

[0:24:11]


And he fought that very bitterly, but he lost because they really needed the space for the automobiles.  So but when that construction went along, all of that dust from North Parkway came all the way down, and I am allergic to dust.  I suffered and was sick the whole time that construction went on.  Remodeling of North Parkway.  But going back to the ‘20s again – 

Virginia Donaway:
Did you ever know any – you talked about the hobos.  Were there ever any gypsies that came through there?

Nell S. Aspero:
You know, I think there was some gypsies.

Virginia Donaway:
There was a passing reference in the Southwestern history, and just something about the gypsies, and I didn’t know what that meant.

[0:25:00]

Nell S. Aspero:
You mean Southwestern College History?  I think there was some gypsies that camped down in there periodically.  I’m sure that’s another reason my mother would never let me go down there without one of them.  We were afraid – gypsies had the reputation of kidnapping children.  You know?  Taking them off.  But anyway, that area developed very rapidly when the news was positive that Southwestern College was coming to Memphis, and that development took place, I’d say, beginning about 1924.  

Virginia Donaway:
Were you all pleased that it was developing, or were you sorry to see your suburban place go?

Nell S. Aspero:
No.

Raynne Creemer:
How much land did you have with your house?

Nell S. Aspero:
I think it’s 80 by 160.  And –
Raynne Creemer:
Now is that the same house you’re still in?

Nell S. Aspero:
Still house.  

[0:26:00]


Still the same house.  It had an enormous sweet gum tree in the front yard.  We were very proud of, particularly my mother.  My mother had any number of very fine trees planted.  They’re still there.  There’s some locust trees on the Hawthorne Street side and two magnificent pecan trees on the Hawthorne Street side that are in our backyard that used to bare these enormous paper shell pecans.  They’re just wonderful.  And we’d gather the pecans.  I remember my aunts going out early in the morning and getting the pecans and making caramel pecan pies.  


But the squirrels from the zoo found out about these fine pecan trees, and they would come on the cables down the alley and jump on top of our garage, and then leap into the pecan trees.

[0:27:04]


And take all the pecans or eat them up fast as soon as it got ripe, and now we never – I don’t know whether those trees have gotten so they don’t bare any or not, but we’ve never – we haven’t had a pecan in five or six years.  But the squirrels were the original villains about the pecans.

Virginia Donaway:
What the Ferguson property that became Southwestern and the Snowden property?  Was all of that just fields, too?

Nell S. Aspero:
Just fields.

Virginia Donaway:
Was it actually cultivated, or do they just cut just what grass was there when they were bailing hay?

Nell S. Aspero:
My recollection is that they just cut the grass like they did behind us and bailed it.  Going back to the development of Southwestern, all of that area that’s known as University Park subdivision at Lindale, Minion, Snowden, and Tutwiler developed then.

[0:28:08]


And they cut University Street through from North Parkway to Jackson, and University was a boulevard as it is now, but it was just a gravel – not paved.  Not paved.  And I know that was a prime place to learn to drive an automobile, and that’s where the salesman took me when I was 16, and we first bought a car and took me to teach me to drive the car.  Then later when I went to Boston to study at the New England Conservatory of Music, my mother determined she was going to learn to drive the car.  So the big collie dog we had would get on the back seat, and my mother would write how she and Billy went to drive the car on University.

[0:29:04]


And how she would stop suddenly, and Billy would fall out on the floor.  But there was very little traffic on University.  It was an ideal place to practice back and forth.

Virginia Donaway:
So I glass you were glad for the service station to come in then if people were beginning to buy cars and the area was developing.  Or was that a good thing to come in?  Do you remember when that Exxon came?  Was it an Exxon at first?

Nell S. Aspero:
It was a standard oil I think in those days, and they had glass containers on top of the tank, and when you wanted ten gallons or whatever it was, they’d pump until the glass container filled up, and then it would be put in the car.  I can’t remember who had the first service station, but when along about that era of 1925, the group of stores at the corner of Tutwiler and McLane are going north were built.

[0:30:14]


And Southwestern Drugstore became the leading pharmacy in that area, and the first pharmacist that I remember owning that drugstore and running it was Mr. McLaren.  Very, very likeable little gentleman, and oh so accommodating.  I miss Southwestern Drugstore to this very day because it was – well, it had a bigger supply of drugs than Walter ever did.  Walter had so much variety stuff in his emporium, but Mr. McLaren had a very high-class drugstore.  

[0:31:00]


And of course, they delivered, but by ______, that lady by Volkswagen, oh dear, those were the days.  And then they had tables.  If you wanted to go down on Sunday afternoon and have an ice cream soda, you could.  I’ve been there with many a date as well as my family, and it was the neighborhood gathering place.  Southwestern Drug.  [Edit in audio]  Dino’s was – Papa George’s restaurant.  Papa George.  Papa George was Greek, had awfully good food, and that was right next to the drugstore, but that didn’t come until Southwestern was well developed.

And then a grocery store to the north of Dino’s was Mr. Garavelli, and Mr. Garavelli had a marvelous reputation.

[0:32:05]

Raynne Creemer:
How do you spell Garavelli?
Nell S. Aspero:
G-A-R-A-V-E-L-L-I.  He had a wonderful reputation for having the best meat in that whole section of the city.  Now that building is still there, and a Chinaman had that restaurant last of all.
Virginia Donaway:
The grocery store?
Nell S. Aspero:
I mean the grocery store, but the Chinaman’s wife died, and she helped him in the store extensively, and nice enough store.  But the supermarkets had bloomed out.  I don’t think he got a lot of patronage in that grocery store, except people who were in a hurry as sort of a convenience type of a thing.

Virginia Donaway:
I interrupted you.  You were talking about the polling places.

[0:33:00]

Nell S. Aspero:
Now the first polling place that I remember, first voting place, was at the corner of Faxon and McLane.  It was the 36th ward, the first precinct, and the elections were held in a tent.  And I remember when I was a little girl handing our circulars and cards, soliciting votes for various candidates down there at that polling place.  Now that was 1918 and ’20, along in there.  And I will never forget all of the nice people in those days that we knew anything about were democrats, and I remember very well a gentleman who his family was very friendly with ours, and he was a very fine man, coming up to me on one of those occasions and wanting to know where the republican primary was held.

[0:34:16]


Well, I had to tell him I didn’t know.  I was a little girl, and we didn’t know anything about republicans in those days.  

Raynne Creemer:
You mentioned that the drugstore was a neighborhood gathering place.  Were there any other particularly characteristically neighborhood sorts of things that you can remember that were special neighborhood places or events or groups?
Nell S. Aspero:
The Evergreen Civic Club was a wonderful, wonderful organization, and of course, this whole section was known as the Evergreen section.  Still is officially.
[0:35:00]


It’s Faxon’s addition to Evergreen that we lived on, but all of the territory south of us as far as Poppler is Evergreen, and the Evergreen Civic Club was composed of most outstanding families in that section.  It was open to men and women.  I know my mother belonged, and I recited many a piece before the Civic Club meetings.  That’s before I got to playing the piano.  I was better at playing the piano.


And the meetings were always highly entertaining.  I remember that they met in the homes a great deal.  At that time, Overton Park had beautiful homes.  Overton Park Avenue.  This is before the blitz for the expressway tore down fine homes.  And we’d meet in various homes. 

[0:35:58]


Mr. and Mrs. Elway Currier’s home.  Mr. and Mrs. MT Rouche.  Now both families were charter members of Trinity Methodist Church.  And Trinity, I think, was chartered in 1915, and my mother joined in 1916 when we moved there.  We were almost charter members.


And they were leaders in the Evergreen Civic Club.  And once a year at least, Evergreen Civic Club would have a banquet over at Snowden School, and that was way before there was a cafeteria in Snowden School, and the banquet tables would be spread as I recall on that first floor.  I remember reciting it, those things, and speeches and whatnot.

Raynne Creemer:
Are you active in the Vaca organization now?
Nell S. Aspero:
No.  No, my husband was quite active in the Valentine Evergreen Civic Club or the Jackson Boulevard Civic Club, I think it was called.
[0:37:07]


And he and Walter.  Walter the druggist.  And they worked, and oh, what was the name of the fella?  He was a leader in the McLane Baptist Church.  But the Jackson Boulevard Civic Club was quite active.  We went to meetings, and most of those meetings were held in the McLane Baptist Church when it was a little frame church, and I remember one fourth of July, but this was in recent years.  This was in the ‘50s.  A big fourth of July celebration.  And I took both my children and passed out little United States flags, and I thought it was very, very nice on the fourth of July.


But there was no Jackson Boulevard Civic Club until, to my knowledge, well into the ‘40s or ‘50s.  

[0:38:07]


Virginia Donaway:
That’s interesting.  There was one early because they got Valentine School started about ’27.

Nell S. Aspero:
Is that right?
Virginia Donaway:
And went up – because I have the scrap books into the ‘30s, and I guess it must have died out and then started again.  Yeah.

Nell S. Aspero:
I started to tell you something.  South of Overtone Park to all – well, at least to Caruthers.  There was a huge tract of land that was vacant over in there.  The Evergreen Civic Club brought the Chautauqua here for at least three summers, and for a full week, and the Chautauqua gave marvelous programs.  I know that’s the first time I ever heard in person the quartet from Rigaletto Sun, and the sextet from Luchille.  They were top rate artists they would bring.
[0:39:10]


And some of them were recording artists.  There was a variety of programs.  Some were musical and some were speeches.  But it was a great thing for the city of Memphis for that Chautauqua to be put on.

Virginia Donaway:
You mentioned your dates and having ice cream.  Did you ever go to Dale Springs on a date?

Nell S. Aspero:
Oh, I don’t remember going on a date, but I can remember very well the day after Christmas one year, and this must have been about 19 – I was still in Snowden School.  When did I graduate from Snowden?  ’22.  This must have been about 1920.  My mother took a group of girls over to Dale Springs for a cook out, and that was a big event because they had grills at Dale Springs, and we had pigs in blankets, and oysters wrapped with bacon around it, and we had all kind of fine food on that – the day after Christmas at Dale Springs.

[0:40:12]


Yeah.  But that was –

Raynne Creemer:
Could you describe Dale Springs area a little more?  Was it just sort of a – what was it?
Nell S. Aspero:
Well, I think it had more than one grill, but that was – I don’t know what happened to Dale’s. 
Raynne Creemer:
Was it like a park?
Nell S. Aspero:
I don’t remember that there was much to it except for some grills.
Virginia Donaway:
Someone wrote into the paper and said they remembered in the ‘30s it had a baseball diamond they thought, and she remembered going to a company picnic with her parents, this sort of thing, which is what made me wonder if it was the sort of thing that you went on dates over there, or whether it was just a playground type place.

[0:41:02]

Nell S. Aspero:
I never went on a date over there.

Virginia Donaway:
Did you drink the water from the spring?

Nell S. Aspero:
I don’t even remember the spring water.

Virginia Donaway:
It was there.  I remember – I read about it.

Nell S. Aspero:
I remember just the grilling, and I’m sure I went on more than one occasion, but I particularly remember this time that my mother took a whole group of my friends over there for the cookout.  

[Edit in audio]

Virginia Donaway:
Man said he remembered picking up as many as four carloads of Irish potatoes when they stopped at Springdale Station.  Did you ever remember hearing about the train stopping out there?

Nell S. Aspero:
Now Springdale Station I think must have been much farther east on that railroad.

Virginia Donaway:
No, it’s marked on a map there at Springdale on an 1898 map.

Nell S. Aspero:
Now I remember Springdale Church, and I went to Springdale Church when it was a little bitty – 

[0:42:03]

Raynne Creemer:
Are you thinking about Springdale Methodist?

Nell S. Aspero:
Yes.  When it was – it’s still on Tresmont, and I had a friend, Margaret Bobby, they owned property on Jackson Avenue East of Tresmont.  And I would go visit Margaret, and on Sunday mornings, we would go to Springdale Methodist Church over on Tresmont.  The little white frame church.  I mean it was out in the boondocks.  It was in the – it was like it was in a different town.  There wasn’t anything out there.  


Margaret would meet me at the end of the bus line at the end of the what’s now the number three in those days.  Binghamton and Raleigh Springs.  And I’d ride the bus out through the zoo and get off at North Parkway, went to Tresmont. 

[0:43:00]


And we would walk all the way up to Jackson and then to the right.  

Virginia Donaway:
Was there a street there?

Nell S. Aspero:
It was a street.  It wasn’t paved.

Virginia Donaway:
Gravel road.

Nell S. Aspero:
Gravel road.  But then Springdale Methodist Church, as I say, it was a little one room white frame building, and I know I used to become so amused because of some old men who would sit in the back of the church, and they were always saying, “Amen, amen,” in the middle of the sermon, and I could hardly keep from giggling when that went on because they didn’t even do that at Trinity, which was very small.

Virginia Donaway:
That was a city church, though.  

Nell S. Aspero:
Yeah.  It was a city church, and but I remember Springdale so well.  Springdale Methodist church.  But I don’t remember a Springdale Station.

[0:44:01]

Virginia Donaway:
So as long as you can remember, the L&N never stopped out there.  
Nell S. Aspero:
Uh-uh.  

Virginia Donaway:
One something I saw had on a map some railroad yards marked say like along McLane, somewhere along there.  Can you ever remember anything like that?  I’m beginning to think maybe the map was a mistake because nobody ever heard of it.  

Nell S. Aspero:
Of course I know where the railroad goes across McLane.

Virginia Donaway:
Yeah.  But you don’t ever remember any sort of railroad yards.

Nell S. Aspero:
No, I don’t remember any railroad yard through there.

Virginia Donaway:
Were there any other businesses like Smith Lumber Company that were relatively good sized places besides the ones in the regular shopping areas?

[0:44:55]

Nell S. Aspero:
I don’t remember any until, as I mentioned, Bower Store was built.  And then that was where the Elite Beauty Shop is now, and then Walter’s drug – wasn’t Walter’s Drugstore.  What’s the name of that drugstore?  I believe they called it McLane Drugstore in those days where Mr. Eason was the pharmacist for so long, and then Walter took it over.

Virginia Donaway:
What was the reaction when Sears built that great big building?

Nell S. Aspero:
That was about 1926 or ’27.  Oh, yes.  Our neighbors were delighted because it gave us a fairly nearby place to shop, and it’s still that way because of the variety stores have closed.  Used to be some Woolworth’s was over there on North Cleveland, and then there was a Sterling store on Jackson that we could go to, but now there’s nothing.  And I hear that Sears is about to close its retail store. 

Virginia Donaway:
Oh, really?

Nell S. Aspero:
I hope that’s an error.

[0:46:03]

Virginia Donaway:
I hope.  You remember going to the Rosemary Theatre?

Nell S. Aspero:
Oh, many times.  Many times.  Many times.  

Virginia Donaway:
Was that a bright, active shopping area up in there?

Nell S. Aspero:
It was.

Virginia Donaway:
But it didn’t develop until later on.  Right?

Nell S. Aspero:
Yeah because Jackson was just a dirt road back in the ‘20s, and I don’t recall just when that shopping section developed on Jackson where the Rosemary Theatre is, but I remember the Rosemary.

Virginia Donaway:
It was late ‘20s as I recall, I think.

Nell S. Aspero:
Oh, I remember going to the Rosemary many a time with my mother and my aunt, and then when I married and the children came along, taking the children to the Rosemary.  We were sorry when the Rosemary was torn down and became the bank, which folded up.  The First National Bank had that property.

[0:47:02]

Virginia Donaway:
We found an ad for the Rosemary, and it claimed that it was the center of neighborhood life.  Was that an overstatement, or was that pretty true?

Nell S. Aspero:
I wouldn’t say it was an overstatement.  It was the only movie house in that section until Lucy Anne was opened on Summer way out on – oh.

Virginia Donaway:
At Nash.  That one?

Nell S. Aspero:
No, not that far out.

Virginia Donaway:
Oh, at Hollywood.

Nell S. Aspero:
Yeah.

Virginia Donaway:
There on the north side of Hollywood.

Raynne Creemer:
When was that?

Nell S. Aspero:
I would say in the ‘30s.  And then the other movie house in that end of town was the Ritz, and the Ritz was on Poppler about at Evergreen and Poppler.  And it had good movies.  That was across the street from Cox Paris Drug Company.  
[0:48:01]


And I’m trying to think of the pharmacist who – I believe his name was Crook who bought that drugstore and that property, but later – now that drugstore was situated on what became a little island by the city diverting Evergreen to the west, and it left Cox – Mr. Crook’s pharmacy, which was an excellent pharmacy, sitting on a sort of an island in there.  That’s right.  That’s where the corner – 

Virginia Donaway:
That Nobbs house.  ______ kitchen.

Raynne Creemer:
Can you think of anything that public policy has done that has affected your neighborhood, the Vaca neighborhood?
Virginia Donaway:
Good or bad.  

[Edit in audio]

[0:49:00]

Nell S. Aspero:
Talking about the size of our house and whether we built it or not.  In 1928, I was teaching piano at that time and also attending Southwestern, and my mother added the second story to 1790 Faxon.  Five rooms.  There’s a second story.  And it’s the largest house in that whole end of town now because then when I married, and our little girl was born in 1947, my husband added a whole back end as a playroom for her, and I think that house, if it’s strictly counted, has about 14 rooms now, several of which I’m ashamed to say have become junk rooms or sling rooms.
[0:50:01]


You open the door, and you don’t know what to do with something, and in it goes.

Raynne Creemer:
Well, you’re not planning on moving any time soon.
Nell S. Aspero:
No.  We were approached not long ago by some people who wanted to buy a large house.  And the property of it, the corner of Hawthorne and North Parkway that used to belong to the Dillitush family, they had a home on the corner, and then a vacant lot.  And I remember Walter, the son of the family, had a pony that was in the vacant lot.  Well anyway, a church bought that property that opened to a bible church, and to our amazement, it has grown like I don’t know what.  I don’t know how many members they have, but they surely are an enthusiastic and numerous bunch that arrive every Sunday morning and park all the way down by our house.
[0:51:00]


Well anyway, these people who approached us two or three months ago wanted to buy a large house, and that church had been written up a week or two before, and now I’ve forgotten the name of the denomination it was – this gentleman was very – and the lady very nice people.  Very enthusiastic over this new denomination.  I don’t know whether it was – 

Raynne Creemer:
Was their name Bergy?
Nell S. Aspero:
No.  And I don’t think it was evangelical.  Seemed – 
Raynne Creemer:
There is a group that is looking for homes in there. 
Nell S. Aspero:
Seemed like it’s an off spurt of the evangelicals.  Some little different aspect.  I’m not real sure.
[0:52:00]


But anyway, they never would say that it was for a church, but they said that that church met in homes, and that they wanted to buy a large home.  

Virginia Donaway:
One thing that I think is somewhat unique in that whole area is that nice apartments and nice homes have coexisted almost from the beginning.  Do you have an idea of why that’s been successful?

Nell S. Aspero:
No, but I remember the first apartments that were built.  They were on Tutwiler during this Southwestern development of the University Park development.  The three big apartment houses down there at the corner of Tutwiler and McLane, and then some nice apartment houses were built on North Parkway between Hawthorne and McLane. 

Virginia Donaway:
Some were built up on Jackson probably about the same time.  Late ‘20s at least.

[0:53:02]


Did people seem to complain about that, or they just – 

Nell S. Aspero:
I don’t remember complaints.  Oh, I must tell you about the lunchroom at Snowden School.  I don’t remember complaints about the apartments coming, but Snowden, when I first went to Snowden about 1916, the principal was Mr. SE Scates.  S-C-A-T-E-S.  He was a very, very fine gentleman, and a very erect carriage.  He later became professor of history at Memphis State and wrote a history of Tennessee.  Anyway – [edit in audio] days everybody had to take their lunch or else go home to lunch.  Seems to me like I went home for lunch because I just lived a block.
[0:54:00]


But that block between Hawthorne and McLane considered an inferior bunch that lived down there.  I remember my mother always had me walk up Hawthorne to North Parkway and walk down North Parkway to school.  I don’t know that there was anything bad about those people, but she didn’t think they was her type of people that she wanted me to be associating with.  So anyway – and my daughter still says that’s the way to approach our house, but I found it’s a lot easier to give directions to come down McLane to the filling station and turn up.  But anyway, in those days, there was no lunchroom.  That was one big reason that my mother moved out of our former location because the first two years, I went to Cummings School, and my mother came to visit Cummings School one day at noontime, and she saw flies all over the lunchroom.

[0:55:05]


And she said that she was going to get me away from there, which she did.  Well anyway, Mr. Scates was succeeded as principal of Snowden School by another very fine and most progressive man, Mr. Arthur C. Nute, N-U-T-E.  Now Mr. Nute bought up the – I think it was the surplus beef from World War I.  It was in cans.  It was known as Bully Beef.  And Mr. Nute had hot lunches.  I think the PTAs must have prepared those lunches, and I remember the beef and mashed potatoes and gravy, which was a wonderful thing for children to have hot lunches.  Mr. Nute was just so progressive.

Then about 1921, Mr. Nute had a big festival for Snowden School in the spring of the year over at Overton Park.  

[0:56:08]


The ones who had the highest grades in the room are the ones who got to participate in the preparation of the festival, and I remember my job was to assist in making the lemonade, and we had a big to-do with costumes and all kind of stuff over in Overton Park.  

[Edit in audio]

Virginia Donaway:
Snowden when University Park started filling up, and all of a sudden, Snowden School, didn’t it just start growing?

Nell S. Aspero:
Snowden started growing.  The year that I graduated from Snowden, we held our graduation exercises in the first addition to Snowden.  Now that was before the auditorium was built, and long before the part onto the east was built.  But – 

[0:57:05]

Virginia Donaway:
Was this families with young children that were moving into University Park?
Nell S. Aspero:
Largely families with young children, and of course, all white.
Raynne Creemer:
Could you describe the neighborhood during the ‘40s?  How was it different during the ‘40s than earlier?  Just really developing all around, or was it pretty well completed?
Nell S. Aspero:
Well, as I remember, it was pretty well completed.  [Edit in audio] Neighborhood was, but over there where Dale Springs had been, that was the Valentine section, and there was a big golf course, very nice golf course, played many times over there.  The Valentine golf course came in that area where Dale Springs, as I recall, had been.
[0:58:07]


But then, Valentine school – 

Virginia Donaway:
I think the golf course was more where Barren Hirsch is.  Wasn’t it?  

Nell S. Aspero:
Well, yes, and where Brown and those streets – Rainbow Drive, all of that part, I think, was built into what used to be the Valentine golf course.  Now in the meantime, I think I said I was teaching piano, and I taught – well, I was the first teacher in this section to teach class piano lessons.  This was depression days.  At first, I gave nothing but private lessons, but then when the crash came and it was hard for people to get up dollar or dollar and a quarter for a 30 minute private lesson, nowadays, they’re way up, I don’t know how much.  

[0:59:03]


And I took a special course in class piano teaching, and on Tuesday and Friday afternoons, I had a class – a piano class in Snowden School, the first class piano teacher in the city.  I taught at Valentine.  I think it was on Monday and Thursday mornings before school in the school cafeteria, and then in the afternoons after the class work, I had my private pupils.

Raynne Creemer:
Did the children in the classes pay, or did the school pay you?
Nell S. Aspero:
No, no, the children in the classes paid 25 cents each per lesson, and then as I would develop talent and realize that the children were applying themselves, I always say talent and 99 percent perspiration.  
[1:00:01]


The mothers and I would talk.  The mothers would buy a piano for the children, and I would help them select the piano.  Then they would come in to maybe semi-private lessons at my home.  I’d take maybe eight at the time, and then they would evolve into private lessons.  I had a normal class at one time in my home in this class piano teaching.  I guess I became sort of famous as a class piano teacher because teachers came from as far away as Little Rock to take this normal class, and I don’t know how old I was about that time, about 23 years old I guess that must have been.  I don’t know.  1930.  No.  [Edit in audio]
Virginia Donaway:
Teaching piano at Valentine, when I read the article in the paper about the dedication of Valentine Park, and it said they had a parade with 1,000 people in the parade, and they had the Valentine playground orchestra, and the little flower orchestra and all. 

[1:01:11]


Do you have any recollection of that, or did you by chance play any part in the Valentine orchestra?  And I didn’t know teaching maybe you had.

Nell S. Aspero:
No, no, I played piano for the orchestra at Central High School and sang in the glee club and a whole lot of things, but that had no connection with the – 

Virginia Donaway:
Did Snowden School have any sort of orchestra?

Nell S. Aspero:
Not in those days.  Not in those days.  I played the piano at Snowden School a great deal and sang any kind of musical events and dramatic sort of stuff.  I always enjoyed things of that sort.  

[Edit in audio]

Virginia Donaway:
RB – Brinkley Snowden – 

Nell S. Aspero:
Brinkley.  Uh-huh.  R Brinkley Snowden. 

Virginia Donaway:
They said why it was a frog pond, that it was just so swampy there that there was no way to fill it in.  

[1:02:08]


Was the property – then were the cotton council and where Parkway House was finally built, were they also low, even though they must have filled in for Snowden Schools?  

Nell S. Aspero:
Now I don’t remember that being low.  All I remember is that what was all vacant and woodsy.  You walk up Noah Parkway.  I remember my mother would take me on walks on Sunday afternoon, my aunt, and great big trees all along in there across from Overton Park.  

Virginia Donaway:
So there were no houses in there until Evergreen Church, all that whole section then remained vacant.

Nell S. Aspero:
Until Southwestern came.

Virginia Donaway:
Well after Southwestern came though, then what happened to that section that has Evergreen Church and the Pie Cave House with the Southwestern – 

Nell S. Aspero:
That came much later.  Much later.

[1:03:00]

Virginia Donaway:
That was all Southwestern property.  So it was just left vacant?

Nell S. Aspero:
Yes, that Evergreen Church was not at that time – Evergreen Presbyterian Church was situated at Dickinson and Autumn.  Little church.

Virginia Donaway:
So the school was the only thing in that whole square block then for – 

Nell S. Aspero:
Uh-huh, Snowden School.  I don’t remember anything else.

Virginia Donaway:
Forty years almost then say.

Nell S. Aspero:
What did you say?

Virginia Donaway:
I said it was probably say 40 years that it was just – 

[Edit in audio]

Raynne Creemer:
September 14th, 1979.  This is Tape 2 of an interview with Nell Sanders Aspero on the Vaca neighborhood and public policy project.  I am Raynne Creemer, and with me is Virginia Donaway.  All right, let’s continue on.  
Virginia Donaway:
I asked wasn’t it somewhat unusual for a lady to be an attorney back in the ‘30s?

Nell S. Aspero:
Yes, yes, and my mother had two very good friends, Ms. Francis Wolfe, W-O-L-F-E, who always wanted me to study law and visited in our home many, many times.
[1:04:13]


And – 

Virginia Donaway:
You said she was an attorney.

Nell S. Aspero:
She was a lawyer.  She was one of the first.  The act enabling women to be admitted to the Bar was passed in 1907.  And with the help of the labor unions, it had failed before.  The labor unions helped get it passed.  I don’t know exactly how that connection came, but after I was practicing law and was asked to organize the women’s section of the Bar Association of Tennessee, of which I became the first president in 1942 I think it was, we gave a luncheon at the Peabody honoring the original three women lawyers, and one was Ms Francis Wolfe and Ms. Marianne Griffin, and I think her name was a Mrs. Abernathy who came from Ripley, Tennessee.

[1:05:19]


Well, this was innovative because in those days, the very few women lawyers who were scattered around over the state didn’t want to come to the Bar Association functions, the state or the local, because they felt out of place, and if they did come, they were shunted away with the wives to go to fashion shows and things of that sort, and they felt embarrassed to come to hear the real meaty lectures and things that we could learn about.  So Claire Payton, who has been dead for years now, helped me organize the women’s section.

[1:06:08]


And we got 25 women throughout the state to join the Bar Association of Tennessee, and then they originated the women’s section for us.  
Virginia Donaway:
Tell us about your involvement with the Crump Machine in Hein Park and the voting and everything.  

Nell S. Aspero:
Well, the – now the voting, when I mentioned this polling place and said that we didn’t know where the republican primary was, in those days, Mr. Crump had absolute control, and it grew stronger as the years went by.  

Virginia Donaway:
Just for clarity for somebody that’s listening to the tape, what years are we talking about?

Nell S. Aspero:
Well, I would say from 1918 on, the Crump Machine grew stronger and stronger.

[1:07:02]


And I was one of the lieutenants in the 36th ward, first precinct, and I remember going house to house, doing what we call then selling poll tax receipts.  What we were doing was collecting $2.00 from people to give them a poll tax receipt so they could vote.  In those days, they had to have a poll tax receipt, and Mr. Bob Hugo, H-U-G-O, who was the superintendent of sanitation of the city and who lived on Tutwiler.  Well, this was after the Southwestern growth that University Park came in.


Mr. Hugo and I worked very closely together in 36th ward, first precinct, and Mr. Gordon Hollingsworth.  We were the three.

[1:08:06]

Raynne Creemer:
What were the boundaries of that precinct?
Nell S. Aspero:
It took in all the way over to University, and as I recall, all the way up to Jackson, and to North Parkway, and just how far – I think maybe the railroad crossing up near Sears was the western boundary of 36/1 as well as I recall.  Anyway, Hein Park was developed in the ‘20s, and then it grew stronger and stronger in the ‘30s after I became a practicing attorney.  
[1:09:10]


Now many women would go to law school and study law at night who were stenographers, and maybe take the Bar exam and pass it, but they wouldn’t practice law, and if they did, they did only office work.  They wouldn’t go into the courts.  Or if they went into the courts, they wouldn’t do anything but work where there was no opposition, like probate things.  And now I haven’t mentioned Ms. Smith at all.

Virginia Donaway:
Get back to Hein Park, and then we’ll get back to Ms. Smith.

Nell S. Aspero:
All right.  Well now, the Hein Park, we used to have rallies for the Crump candidates, and in those days, if Mr. Crump chose somebody to run, it was tantamount to their being elected.

[1:10:10]


In fact, very few people dared run against the Crump chosen candidates, and I remember presiding over rallies.  We had these big rallies in Hein Park.  Now that was that whole 36/1.  Watermelons were served at the rallies.  I remember one particularly where I introduced Colonel WJ Baker as a speaker.  Colonel Baker was quite a war hero and a judge of a JP court.  And Cliff Davis who later became congressman.  And this went on and on with my work in Mr. Crump’s interest.

[1:11:06]


And my mother was instrumental in getting Judge Camille Kelly appointed to the juvenile court bench.  Now Judge Kelly lived on Caruthers just west of Evergreen.  Judge Camille Kelly.  She had a little daughter who was just my age in school.  Now her mother is – I mean she and my mother were good friends.  Well Mr. Crump was grooming me to succeed Judge Kelly, but I really did not want to sit on the Juvenile Court bench, and although I was very friendly with the judge and they introduced her in Chicago at a big meeting of the National Association of Women Lawyers, of which I became vice president, 2,000 women lawyers in the United States.

[1:12:03]


And I was on honored, but I just didn’t want to follow Judge Kelly.  Judge Kelly would hold court.  She’d get on the bench about 2:00 in the afternoon after her secretary came and bathed her and got her up.  “Come on, judge.  Time to go.”  In the meantime, she was always sitting in the middle of her bed talking on the telephone to everybody in the world, trying to pull strings about these children.  I’ve been over there and conferred within her home, and the secretary would come and get judge up.  “Judge, you’ve got to have your bath and go down to court.”  And she would sit on the bench until 8:00 or 9:00 at night.  I said, “I don’t want a life like that.”  Judge McCain succeeded Judge Kelly.  Judge – 

[Edit in audio]


Mr. Crump and I became very fast friends, and I was the one who introduced the bill in the legislature on behalf of the beauticians for the state that was enacted into law in the legislature in 1939 requiring the beauticians and cosmetologists to take an examination.  

[1:13:26]


And also for the premises to be inspected for sanitary purposes.  

[Edit in audio]


– as the chairman of the board, a very fine woman who we recommended to Mr. Crump as the first chairman.  I don’t know what her title was.  President or chairman or something.  I remember at that time, Mr. Crump asked me, he says, “You’re mighty young to be doing all this, Ms. Sanders.”  Everybody was very proper in those days.

[1:14:06]


Didn’t call them by first names like we do now.  He goes, “How old are you?”  At that time, I think I was 29, and I remember Mr. Crumps telling me in his office about the ravages of the yellow fever that he said was called the black vomit in those days.  He always kept lemonade in his office.  Well anyway, that’s getting off track.  So the first person that I know of in our section to oppose Mr. Crump and to dare to run for office without Mr. Crump’s endorsement was my husband.  Now I married in 1946, and Mr. Asbrough had practiced law in Memphis before he went to World War II.

[1:15:00]


But he was originally from Massachusetts.  He could not understand, let alone abide, the fact that there was a benevolent dictator here.  He believed so thoroughly in the democratic process, and so he ran for chancellor, part two of the Chantry Court in 1950.  Well, it was a tremendous upheaval of a race, and a lot of the laboring union people particularly were backing my husband, and he said that he entered the circuit court clerk’s office one day when Ms. Smith came swooping into the clerk’s office and said, “You’d better get working since Asbrough is going to beat B Jack.”  B Jack.

[1:16:03]

Virginia Donaway:
Which is Judge B Jack.

Nell S. Aspero:
Uh-huh.  He was chancellor at that time, but B Jack would go to sleep on the bench and not pay attention to what was being introduced in evidence, and oh, everybody – and then you would have these awful fits of temper and storm at the lawyers.  I mean lawyers who were 60 years old and very outstanding, you know, respected lawyers.  People would just – a lot of people, litigants and lawyers, were just fed up with Chancellor B Jack.  Ms. Smith came in and says, “Oh, you all had better work.  Asbrough is going to beat B Jack.”  She said, “People are getting behind Asbrough.  He’s gonna put B Jack off of this bench.”  Well, he didn’t, but he got a tremendous vote in those days of vote of a third was considered phenomenal against a candidate of Mr. Crump.

[1:17:06]

[Edit in audio]


Things went on and on.  It wasn’t good.
Raynne Creemer:
What kind of reprisals?
Nell S. Aspero:
Well, the Crump Machine people were mad at my husband.  They never acted mad toward me, but they did toward him because he had opposed Mr. Crump.  And in the meantime, though I’d built up quite a practice of my own during World War II with Mr. Asbrough, we weren’t married until after World War II.  I had become one of the charter members and moving forces in organizing the 1,000 member labor law section of the American Bar Association, and I represented three big labor unions here in Memphis and was asked to become regional attorney for the wage and hour division of the labor department for two states, Mississippi and Alabama, to be located in Jackson, Mississippi. 

[1:18:12]


But I was doing very well in Memphis at that time with my own private practice, and then I had my mother and my aunt, and I didn’t want to move from Memphis.  I refused to.

[Edit in audio]

Raynne Creemer:
Wait a minute.  The question was did World War II make much of a difference in the neighborhood.  


Nell S. Aspero:
Well, the young men of army age, of course, had to go to war, and before that, World War I, I can remember very vividly World War I, a lieutenant George Puryear, P-U-R-Y-E-A-R, his older brother was a criminal court judge.  They lived on Stone Wall just north of Overton Park, and Lieutenant George Puryear was an aviator, was killed in World War I.  And – 
Virginia Donaway:
Were there a lot of victory gardens or this sort of thing?

Nell S. Aspero:
Yes.  And World War I, there was some English people named Wardle, W-A-R-D-L-E, who lived up near the corner of Evergreen and Faxon on Faxon, and there was a false report.  Now remember, there was no – there were some radios, but they were little cats whisper type radios, crystal sets, and a false report of the armistice came out.  And I remember very vividly the Wardles going up and down Faxon, ringing bells and shouting that the war was over.

[1:20:05]


Now this was 1917, but that was a false report.  But then when armistice really was declared, November 11th, 1917, I believe it was, I remember my mother calling from downtown and telling my aunt to bring me to Main Street, that the celebration was phenomenal, and people were milling just up and down Main Street.  The street cars were completely blocked, and people were ringing cow bells and just every kind of celebration at the end of World War I.  I don’t remember such jubilation at the end of World War II.  It sort of came more gradually.  

[1:20:58]


First, the war in Europe ended first in World War II.  Of course, we were all very happy, and then the Japanese surrender was signed.  But World War II, I remember as a time of great hardship for the civilians in order for all the good beef to go to the army and how we would pay what we thought then was exorbitant prices for steaks, and then the steak would be tough because it hadn’t been aged properly.  All the good meat went to the war, went to the soldiers, and parachutes were made of nylon, and you could not get nylon hose.  You had to wear rayon hose that wrinkled and took about 48 hours to dry. 

Virginia Donaway:
So at this period, you were doing your shopping, I guess, in the neighborhood stores.

[1:21:59]
Nell S. Aspero:
Those stores that I mentioned before in World War II – of course, Sears was there.

Raynne Creemer:
Well, going on with the neighborhood since we’ve started another tape, when did you notice the neighborhood seemed to change in character?
Nell S. Aspero:
Well, I can remember people that grew up in the neighborhood, Dr. Eugene Facaro, who is a prominent ophthalmologist, grew up just two doors down the street from us and lived there in the home with his parents and his wife and child, and for a long time, then he moved out east.
Raynne Creemer:
When was that?
Nell S. Aspero:
That was in the early ‘40s.
[1:23:00]


And then his father died, and later, his mother died.  His mother must have died.  They both died, I guess, in the ‘50s.  Now they were very fine people, very outstanding people, and Eugene and his sister, Mavis, were lovely young people.  They both went to Southwestern, graduated from Southwestern.  The loss of the Facaro family.  And I’m thinking about that blocked that I live in.  There were other very good people.  Mr. and Mrs. Manning.  M-A-N-N-I-N-G.  Mr. Manning was a contractor, and lived about – it’s the duplex next to the filling station.  His daughter still lives there.

[1:24:00]


Ms. Francis Manning.  Now she is – holds a high position with the telephone company.  Now she’s still there.  But – 

Virginia Donaway:
What was it that made you stay when these other people started moving do you think?

Nell S. Aspero:
Well, a good bit of that property was rental property and still is.  The people who had the rental property weren’t always so careful about keeping the grass cut, the hedges trimmed, and my mother had always owned that piece of property.  We were very proud of the property.  The trees that she planted that are still there are beautiful additions to the property.

[1:25:03]


I mean they make the property a whole lot more valuable.  The back yard was all fenced in with a good fence.  My husband has built it up still high for fear our golden retriever, Beauregard, might climb out.  Dogs climb fences.  You know?  And oh, my mother had beautiful peach trees in the backyard.  They’d boil peaches, crepe myrtles.  Way back in the very early ‘20s, we even had chickens in the backyard, hens, and she’d raise chickens.  You’d have eggs, fresh eggs, and fry _____, and rabbits.  Rabbits.  My mother was a great hand to raise rabbits.  One Easter.  Oh, this is 1918, ’19.

[1:26:00]


Our gift at Easter was two Belgian hares, and from the two rabbits that I found in what’s now our music room, my mother raised the rabbits.  Oh, I’ll never forget the rabbits.  We had a huge rabbit pen, and then she bought a thing and raised oats to fee the rabbits, and the oats were layer by layer to do that we kept in the house, and then we’d take the oats out to the backyard and feed the rabbit.
Virginia Donaway:
When you moved in and the property behind you was not developed, did your lot – there was not an ally there at that point.  Was there?  Were the allies put in behind you when University Park was developed?

Nell S. Aspero:
I don’t remember.  There must have been an ally designated.

[1:27:00]


But I don’t remember any ally. 

Virginia Donaway:
But you all could just spill over into that vacant property behind you to have all of that in the backyard.

Nell S. Aspero:
No.  We always had a fence.

Virginia Donaway:
You always had a fence.

Raynne Creemer:
We always had a fence.  We always had a dog, and then we had these chickens, and we always had a fence.  Now Mr. and Mrs. Harrington are old residents of that section, and well, I think ______ member of the McLane Baptist Church.  And Mrs. Harrington is just almost bedridden now, but they built one of the first houses that was built on Tutwiler when the Southwestern University Park division was developed, and that must have been around 1925.  Southwestern’s coming had a tremendous advantageous effect on that neighborhood.

[1:28:07]

Virginia Donaway:
It is sort of interesting to us that Hein Park has kept its designation, and of course, it’s sort of isolated there.  Have the people on your side of the neighborhood felt that Hein Park was a part of the neighborhood, or did you give Hein Park any thought period, or did you think of it as a little different neighborhood sort of?

Nell S. Aspero:
Well, I think we all sort of regarded Hein Park as a finer neighborhood than ours.  The houses were finer.  They were more expensive houses over in Hein Park, and although we were neighborly with the people who were all out there in the same precinct, and all the children came to Snowden School.  I taught many, many children from Hein Park.
[1:29:04]


But that was a natural feeling because it was a newer section.  It was developed.

Virginia Donaway:
When was it –

Nell S. Aspero:
1922 and ’24 when I was in grammar school.  Hein Park was growing up, and so was Clarence Saunders and all of his stores.

Virginia Donaway:
Did you know Mr. Heinz by chance?  Or Ms. Elizabeth Heinz.

Nell S. Aspero:
No, I didn’t know Mr. Heinz.  The Hydes, H-Y-D-E-S, have always lived in Hein park, and those children, the – what am I trying to say?  Hydes – Bologna and Hydes.  They’re on the pick pack and the whole series of stores.

[1:30:00]


Now they grew up in that neighborhood, and a number of them still live right there.  And they went to Southwestern.  

[Edit in audio]

Virginia Donaway:
Right at the railroad track just north of the railroad track.  It didn’t develop until late.  I sort of gathered that it perhaps developers maybe had some trouble, financial troubles or something, getting that developed.  Do you remember anything about why that section in there didn’t develop when everything else did?

Nell S. Aspero:
I don’t remember about that.  Now talking about Dale Springs and Springdale.  Now I don’t know whether Springdale got its name partially from the Dale of Dale Springs, but my recollection of Dale Springs was that it was east of where the Terry property on Valentine is.

[1:31:01]


And more east toward McLane that Dale Springs.

Virginia Donaway:
It was where Springdale Church of Christ is, I believe.  

Nell S. Aspero:
That’s east of McLane, uh-huh, and the Springdale School then is – 

Raynne Creemer:
So Jackson.
Nell S. Aspero:
North of that.  
[End of Audio]
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